IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

RECEIVED

MAR 26 2018

G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge ^{S.C.} SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2017-000547

Douglas M. Thompson.....Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina.....Respondent.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Elizabeth A. Franklin-Best
Blume Franklin-Best & Young, LLC
900 Elmwood Avenue, Suite 200
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 765-1044
betsy@blumelaw.com

Other Counsel of Record:
South Carolina Attorney General's Office
Rembert Dennis Building
1000 Assembly Street
Columbia, S.C. 29201

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. Whether the PCR court erred when it did not find trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel when trial counsel failed to introduce bank statements at trial that would have explained Petitioner's possession of a large amount of money at the time of the crime?
- II. Whether the PCR court erred when it concluded that trial counsel did not render ineffective assistance of counsel when trial counsel failed to request a severance?
- III. Whether PCR court erred when it did not find appellate counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel when it did not raise the issue of sufficiency of the evidence and when trial counsel made an appropriate directed verdict motion at the end of the State's case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner was indicted by the Berkeley County Grand Jury for kidnapping (2011-Gs-08-1659), armed robbery (2011-GS-08-1570), and first degree burglary (2011-GS-08-1573). He was represented at trial by David Aylor. He was tried before the Honorable Kristi L. Harrington and a jury between November 7th and 11th, 2011. He was found guilty and sentenced to 15 years for each charge, to be served concurrently.

Petitioner then filed a timely notice of appeal. Petitioner was represented by Lanelle Durant of the South Carolina Office of Indigent Defense, Appellate Division. She filed a merits brief, and raised the following issue on appeal:

Did the trial court judge err in refusing to suppress the identification evidence when the show-up identification procedure was unduly suggestive, inherently unreliable, and conducive to irreparable mistaken identification?

Petitioner then filed a Motion to Relieve Counsel and to Proceed *Pro Se*. He also filed a Writ of Mandamus. The South Carolina Court of Appeals dismissed these motions with prejudice. The Court of Appeals then affirmed Petitioner's conviction and sentence. *State v. Thompson*, Op. No. 2014-UP-136 (S.C. Ct. App. filed April 2, 2014).

Petitioner then filed an application for post-conviction relief on July 9, 2014. An amended application was filed February 11, 2015. The State filed its Return on September 4, 2015. An evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper on December 9, 2016. Petitioner was represented by Lance Boozer. The State was represented by Ruston Neely. The Order of Dismissal was filed February 21, 2017.

This petition for writ of certiorari timely follows.

ARGUMENTS

I. The PCR court erred when it did not find trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel when trial counsel failed to introduce bank statements at trial that would have explained Petitioner's possession of a large sum of money at the time of the crime.

Relevant Facts

Petitioner's convictions arise out of events that occurred on August 6, 2010. That night, there was a home invasion of a group of Brazilians who were living in a high foot traffic area of Berkley County. App. 150. Officer Jason Charlton testified during the *Neil v. Biggers*¹ hearing that it is a low-economic area where a number of people walk and do not drive cars. App. 103-104. He testified that "it's not uncommon for people to run from the police in that area." App. 127. The victims did not spend much time around African-Americans and believed they share many similar physical features. App. 181, 202. Mr. Silva, one of the victims who made an identification of Petitioner as one of his assailants, acknowledged that he testified that all black men look alike to him. App. 321-22. One victim gave a statement to law enforcement that one of the suspects was wearing a blue shirt, but neither Petitioner nor his co-defendant were wearing blue shirts when they

¹ 409 U.S. 188 (1972).

were detained by law enforcement. App. 189. The CAD report noted that the description was two black males wearing red and white shirts. App. 205.

Having been dispatched to the home invasion call, Officer Charlton saw three suspects about a quarter of mile from where the robbery occurred. One was carrying a laptop, and law enforcement had received word that a laptop was missing. When he stopped to speak to them, one suspect fled. App. 72. Petitioner had the laptop in his hands. He and a co-defendant, Clarence Fishburne, were detained, but no weapons were found. App. 74. Back at the victim's apartment, one of the occupants gave law enforcement a cell phone that one of the assailants had dropped. Law enforcement traced it to Fishburne. App. 81-82. Cell phones taken from Fishburne's pocket belonged to the victims. App. 82-83. Those phones, however, were not taken into evidence. App. 98.

The victims said that money was taken, \$100 bills, \$2 bills, "a Brazilian tradition." Law enforcement, however, did not recover those denominations from the suspects. App. 100. The victims claimed the following was stolen: three \$100 bills, five \$50 bills, a few \$20 bills, a \$1 bill and two \$2 dollar pills. Petitioner had the following on him: Six \$50 bills, six \$20 bills, and two \$1 bills. Mr. Silva indicated that a Blackberry had been taken, but law enforcement did not recover a Blackberry from either Petitioner or his co-defendant. App. 101. The victims never confirmed that the laptop that was in Petitioner's possession was the one that was stolen from them. App. 128, 324. Mr. Silva testified that the assailants stole around \$600 from him. App. 317. Petitioner was subsequently convicted of these crimes.

At the post-conviction relief evidentiary hearing, Petitioner explained to the court that, on the day he was arrested for these events, he had withdrawn a substantial amount of money from

the bank to pay off his car loan. App. 879. He introduced into evidence bank receipts showing these withdrawals. App. 844-845.

The PCR court rejected the claim and held:

Applicant claimed he withdrew the money that was found by law enforcement in his pocket from the bank. Applicant wanted to introduce the bank statement to show that the money in his pocket was not taken in the burglary. Trial counsel testified he did not believe the bank statement was of much evidentiary value. Trial counsel testified that his cross-examination of the victims led to the discovery that the denomination and amount of money the victims' claimed was taken in the burglary was not the same as the amount and denominations found on Applicant. Applicant and his codefendant were found with the victim's laptop and cell phones, which further lessened the value of the bank statement. Trial counsel decided not to introduce the bank statement because he believed the value of last argument was greater than the evidence which was redundant... This Court finds that Applicant has failed to satisfy his burden that trial counsel was deficient in not introducing the bank statement.

App. 932.

For reasons discussed below, the PCR court's order misstates the factual record and also commits errors of law.

A criminal defendant has a Sixth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel. In order to establish a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a PCR applicant must show (1) the performance of counsel was deficient, and (2) there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been different. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); *Rhodes v. State*, 349 S.C. 25, 561 S.E.2d 606 (2002). A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial. *Id.* When a defendant's conviction is challenged, "the question is whether there is a reasonable probability that, absent the errors, the fact finder would have had a reasonable doubt respecting guilt." *Ard v. Catoe*, 372 S.C. 318, 331, 642 S.E.2d 590, 596 (2007) (quoting *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. at 696).

This Court has recognized that when counsel articulates a valid reason for employing a certain strategy, such conduct generally will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel. *Ingle v. State*, 348 S.C. 467, 560 S.E.2d 401 (2002); *Stokes v. State*, 308 S.C. 546, 419 S.E.2d 778 (1992). The validity of counsel's strategy is reviewed under "an objective standard of reasonableness." *Ingle*, 348 S.C. at 470, 560 S.E.2d at 402.

The PCR court's order is factually inaccurate, and legally erroneous, and respectfully this Court should grant Petitioner's petition for writ of certiorari. First, the order claims that Applicant and his co-defendant were found with the victim's laptop and cell phones which "further lessened the value of the bank statement." In fact, the record shows that the victims never identified the laptop in Petitioner's possession as the one stolen from the victims. That point was testified to on two different occasions during the trial as indicated above. But also, the victim's cell phones were found in Petitioner's co-defendant's pocket. There was no evidence presented to show that Petitioner knew anything about the phones.

The order also improperly credits trial counsel's "strategy" that the introduction of the bank statements was not necessary since trial counsel had already had the victim's concede that the money found in Petitioner's pocket did not correspond to the denominations they claim were stolen. The Court found that the bank statements then would be "redundant." Respectfully, it would not have been "redundant;" it would have provided additional evidence that Petitioner was not involved in the home invasion. Surely any rational juror would have wondered why a young man, out late at night, would have had such a large amount of cash on him. The introduction of the bank statements would have informed the jury that it was because Petitioner had withdrawn that amount of money **that very day**.

Trial counsel appears to not have even recognized how important this evidence was to his client's case, nor did he seem to understand the actual evidence the State had against his client. At the evidentiary hearing, counsel testified to the following:

And one other thing I definitely want to make clear to you all. This whole issue with the currency, not the part about it being Brazilian currency, because that it completely made up, but this about the money difference, if you back and look in the transcript, you will see where I actually questioned and found out the exact amounts of money that the person who had missing money from, and the denominations in the money that Mr. Thompson had were completely separate, in different amounts. So the two did not even correlate.

So not only was that a secondary issue anyway, because the items that were in his hands, in his actual possession that were stolen from the home, were corroborated to be from the home.

But this whole currency thing about me not putting in this bank statement, that wasn't something that was even at all controversial, because they testified the amounts and the currency that was found, that the guy had lost. He said, it was stolen from him, compared to the money, whatever amount it was. This amount difference is obviously a rabbit trail as well.

The amount didn't have anything to do with it either. "What had to do with it is what currency, basically, like, was it twenties, was it tens, was it fives, ones, whatever The two amounts didn't equal out, the amount in the actual total, nor did the actual denominations match up. So that was not even an issue at trial at all. I don't know where that came from either.

Q: So it's your testimony that the cross-examination that you, and I guess not co-counsel, but co-defendant's counsel, cross-examined the officer on, made the bank statement's evidentiary value lessened?

A: It was completely irrelevant. It wasn't part of their closing statement. They weren't trying to correlate-- that wasn't even something that was an accusation when he said the different-- they didn't need to prove that this money was or wasn't taken from this one individual, because they had two of the three defendants, one that was never called, so really just two, with actually items from the home that no one could argue against . . .

My client, as well as the co-defendant, had possessions from the home that were in their possession when they were arrested. That was very relevant. This money issue was not an issue.

THE COURT: Physical objects?

THE WITNESS: Correct.

BY MR. NEELY:

Q: What were those physical objects?

A: A laptop, and I can't really recall, maybe two laptops and a cell phone.

App. 904-908.

Trial counsel also testified he did not know if Petitioner showed it to him because he "wasn't interested in it." App. 908. Importantly, and contrary to the order of dismissal, trial counsel denied that he considered the loss of closing argument in his assessment of whether to use the evidence or not. App. 907-908.

But also, and contrary to trial counsel's testimony, the State did use the amount of money Petitioner had in his pocket as part of its argument to the jury that Petitioner was guilty of this crime:

Defendant Thompson had a lot of money on him when he was caught. And maybe some of those denominations didn't meet up exactly with what the victim thought that he had. But it was just a guess of what he may have had in his wallet.

He knew he had about \$600. He knew he had about \$600 because it was his daughter's third birthday party the next day and he had to buy party favors and food, and that was taken from him.

A lot of it was found in Defendant Thompson's pocket. Was all \$600 found? No. But you also heard why that was because Officer Charlton told you why that was. Usually when three people commit a crime, three people are going to split the loot. And that's what happened here.

App. 578.

The State clearly used the large amount of money Petitioner had on him as proof that he was guilty of this crime. Trial counsel simply did not comprehend how valuable this evidence would have been had it been presented to the jury. This was hardly a case of overwhelming guilt, and trial counsel's performance was substandard and prejudicial.

The PCR court's order does not accurately reflect the facts presented at trial or at the evidentiary hearing, and it additionally commits legal error by finding that trial counsel decision not to use a piece of evidence did not render his performance ineffective. Respectfully, this Court should grant the petition for writ of certiorari and allow additional briefing on this claim.

II. The PCR court erred when it concluded that trial counsel did not render ineffective assistance of counsel when he failed to request a severance.

As Petitioner explained to the Court during the PCR hearing, Petitioner's co-defendant had just recently been released from prison. App. 866. During Petitioner's sentencing, the judge noted that she was troubled by the fact that Petitioner was out at 11:30pm with a man who was 12 years older than Petitioner was, and who had a criminal record. App. 867

In its order of dismissal, the PCR court denied this claim, finding that Petitioner was unable to name a specific trial right that was compromised by his joint trial or how a joint trial would prevent the jury from making a reliable judgment. App. 928-29. The court found that Petitioner's only assertion was that the jury was biased by his co-defendant's record, which implicated his own guilt. Since the codefendant's record was not introduced at trial, the court found that the record did not bias the jury against Petitioner. App. 929.

"Charges can be joined in the same indictment and tried together where they (1) arise out of a single chain of circumstances, (2) are proved by the same evidence, (3) are of the same general nature, and (4) no real right of the defendant has been prejudiced." *State v. Tucker*, 324 S.C. 155, 164, 478

S.E.2d 260, 265 (1996) (citing *State v. Tate*, 286 S.C. 462, 464, 334 S.E.2d 289, 290 (Ct. App. 1985)). "A motion for severance is addressed to the trial court and should not be disturbed unless an abuse of discretion is shown." *Id.* (citing *State v. Anderson*, 318 S.C. 395, 398, 458 S.E.2d 56, 57-58 (Ct. App. 1995)).

Although it is common to have co-defendants tried together, this Court has always admonished the lower courts to act cautiously in allowing joint trials, and that a trial court judge must carefully consider problems that may arise from a joint trial, such as redacted statements, and must assure protection of each defendant's constitutional right to confront witnesses against him. *State v. Dennis*, 227 S.C. 275, 523 S.E.2d 173 (1999); *State v. Barnes*, 421 S.C. 47, 804 S.E.2d 301 (Ct. App. 2017).

Here the trial court judge did not properly consider the prejudicial effect of allowing a joint trial when Petitioner's co-defendant was so much older, and had a more significant criminal history than Petitioner. Respectfully, Petitioner asks this Court to grant his petition for writ of certiorari and allow additional briefing on this issue.

III. The PCR court erred when it did not find appellate counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel when it did not raise the issue of sufficiency of the evidence and when trial counsel made an appropriate directed verdict motion at the end of the State's case.

Appellate counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel when she failed to raise the issue of sufficiency of the evidence on direct appeal, and when the issue was properly preserved, and the evidence against Petitioner was woefully insufficient to support his conviction. The PCR court erred when it found otherwise.

In addressing this claim, the PCR court held:

Appellate counsel's choice to focus on issues counsel believed had the best possibility of granting Applicant relief is not deficient. This Court finds that

Applicant has failed to satisfy his burden to prove that appellate counsel was deficient. Accordingly, Applicant has failed to satisfy his burden to prove ineffective assistance of counsel with regard to this allegation and it is therefore denied and dismissed.

App. 933.

In cases where the State has failed to present evidence of the offense charged, a criminal defendant is entitled to a directed verdict. *State v. Cherry*, 361 S.C. 588, 593, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004). During trial, "[w]hen ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, the trial court is concerned with the existence or nonexistence of evidence, not its weight." *Id.* at 593, 606 S.E.2d at 477-78 (citing *State v. Gaster*, 349 S.C. 545, 555, 564 S.E.2d 87, 92 (2002)). The trial court should "grant the directed verdict motion when the evidence merely raises a suspicion that the accused is guilty, as '[s]uspicion' implies a belief or opinion as to guilt based upon facts or circumstances which do not amount to proof." *Cherry*, 361 S.C. at 594, 606 S.E.2d at 478.

The evidence adduced at trial was not compelling. The sole testimony tending to connect Petitioner to the crime was the identification made by the victims of the home invasion but, as discussed above, their identifications were highly problematic. The denominations of the money found on Petitioner did not correspond to what the victims alleged had been stolen. Also, the victims never identified the laptop in Petitioner's possession as having been the one stolen from them. The identification was a disfavored "show up" identification. Tr. 75-79. The victims suggested that one of the suspects may have changed shirts. Tr. 95.

In *State v. Bostick*, 392 S.C. 134, 708 S.E.2d 774 (2011), the South Carolina Supreme Court found that where circumstantial evidence merely raises a "suspicion" that the accused is guilty, the State has failed to present "substantial circumstantial evidence." In *State v. Odems*, 395 S.C. 582, 720 S.E.2d 48 (2012), the Supreme Court reiterated that circumstantial evidence is

“substantial” when it “reasonably tend[s]” to prove the guilt of the accused, citing *State v. Lollis*, 343 S.C. 580, 585 (2001). A review of the evidence offered in these cases is instructive.

In *Bostick*, the State relied on four pieces of circumstantial evidence to convict the defendant of murder: 1) the victim’s personal items were found in a burn pile in a nearby house that was owned by the defendant’s mother; 2) a heavy petroleum product was used as an accelerant in the burn pile and the defendant’s mother did not use accelerants; 3) gasoline was used as an accelerant to start a fire in the victim’s home after she was struck by her assailant and gasoline was found on the defendant’s shoes; and 4) blood was found on the defendant’s jeans and an expert testified that, although she could not conclusively conclude that the blood belonged to the victim, there was a 99% chance that it did belong to the victim. In assessing this issue, the South Carolina Supreme Court found that, even when “[a]nalyzing the evidence presented by the State in the light most favorable to it,” “the State’s evidence...raised only a suspicion of guilt...” *Id.* at 141. The Court reversed *Bostick*’s conviction.

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