STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

JUL 23 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

CERTIORARI TO BERKELEY COUNTY
G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., PCR Judge
Kristi L. Harrington, Trial Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-000547

DOUGLAS THOMPSON,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 100108

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

- I. **The post-conviction relief court properly determined Petitioner failed to establish trial counsel was constitutionally ineffective for failing to introduce bank statements at trial because trial counsel made a strategic decision not to introduce the statements and the statements were of low evidentiary value compared to the overwhelming and direct evidence of Petitioner's guilt presented by the State.**

Petitioner asserts trial counsel was ineffective for failing to introduce bank statements during Petitioner's trial to explain why he had a large sum of currency when arrested and the post-conviction relief court erred in denying him post-conviction relief. Specifically, Petitioner asserts the bank records "provided additional evidence that Petitioner was not involved in the

home invasion” and asserts trial counsel never presented a strategic reason for not introducing these statements. However, as the post-conviction relief court correctly held, trial counsel was not constitutionally ineffective for electing not to introduce Petitioner’s bank statements because the statements were of little probative value and counsel strategically decided not to introduce the statements to allow him to have the final closing argument. This Court should deny certiorari.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees a defendant the right to effective assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Lomax v. State, 379 S.C. 93, 665 S.E.2d 164 (2008). In a post-conviction relief action, an applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in his or her application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Where the application alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove that “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that [it] cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Butler, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814.

In evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, the reviewing court applies the two-pronged test outlined in Strickland, 466 U.S. 668. First, the applicant must prove that counsel’s performance was deficient. Id.; Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). Under this prong, the court measures an attorney’s performance by its “reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Butler, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814. “Counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered

adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.” Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). The applicant must overcome this presumption to receive relief. Cherry, 300 S.C. at 118, 386 S.E.2d at 625. Second, counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

“[W]hen counsel articulates a valid reason for employing a certain strategy, such conduct generally will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel. The validity of counsel’s strategy is viewed under an ‘objective standard of reasonableness.’ ” Lounds v. State, 380 S.C. 454, 462, 670 S.E.2d 646, 650 (2008). “The United States Supreme Court has cautioned that ‘every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight’ and evaluate counsel’s decisions at the time they were made.” Edwards v. State, 392 S.C. 449, 456–57, 710 S.E.2d 60, 64 (2011) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689)). Reviewing courts must be wary of second-guessing trial counsel’s tactics. Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 122, 417 S.E.2d 529, 531 (1992).

Petitioner has failed to prove counsel’s performance was constitutionally ineffective, as trial counsel made a strategic decision not to introduce the bank statements because they were of low evidentiary value and not worth forfeiting the final argument to the jury. As an initial matter, Petitioner’s repeated assertions the post-conviction relief court erred as a matter of law because trial counsel denied it was strategic decision not to introduce the records is a misrepresentation of the record. Trial counsel testified twice at the evidentiary hearing he specifically weighed potential benefits from introduction of evidence to challenge the amount of money found on Petitioner versus the benefit of presenting the final closing argument to the jury and strategically

decided not to present any evidence to preserve the final argument. Specifically, trial counsel testified,

That made no sense, because if you look at – again, you go back to – this was never a concern. One, this wasn't an issue for the defense or one that we were concerned about at all, because even – you know, obviously, you know the prosecution, they are going to throw everything at the wall and see what sticks. Throwing the money is just an extra card, but it was something that was easily defeatable, considering the amount of money they are alleging they took, the times, all the sudden met real quick, split it up. And, yet, the amounts they got were completely different. And the other guy didn't have any money on him. Didn't make any sense.

So again, the money issue was not an issue, And it absolutely was never even a thought of myself or my co-counsel, including conversations with our client, **to lose final argument to prove a nonissue in the case.**

...
As far as trying to lose my final, you know, get the final say in as opposed to putting in just this one piece, knowing I wasn't going to have my client testify due to what he had disclosed to me⁴ and my ethical obligations and knowing that his co-defendant wasn't going to testify, absolutely not was it worth putting in a couple of bank statements that were not going to change where he was found, how close he was found to electronics, and any of the testimony of the eyewitness victims who said he was there.

(App. pp. 914, 919) (emphasis added). Counsel clearly testified as to his strategic reasons for not introducing the bank statements, or any other evidence to explain the large amount of currency on Petitioner when arrested, because he felt the issue was a red herring and not worth losing final argument to the jury. The post-conviction relief court's findings do not constitute an error of law and are supported by probative evidence in the record, and therefore, require this Court's deference on appellate review.

Furthermore, as trial counsel correctly stated and the post-conviction relief court properly noted, the bank statements were of little evidentiary value and would not have impacted the

⁴ Trial counsel testified Petitioner admitted he was guilty of these crimes during the course of his representation. (App. p. 923).

jury's verdict in light of the direct evidence of Petitioner's guilt—an identification as one of the assailants by the victims. See State v. Salisbury, 343 S.C. 520, 524, 541 S.E.2d 247, 249 (2001) (“Direct evidence is evidence based on actual knowledge and proves a fact without inference or presumption.”).

Moreover, there is overwhelmingly strong circumstantial evidence of Petitioner's guilt. Testimony and evidence was presented establishing Petitioner, Fishburne, and another man were walking along the side of the road in close proximity to the scene of the robbery shortly after the incident occurred. When they saw a police officer stop nearby and begin to approach them, Fishburne found it necessary to encourage his confederates not to flee, Petitioner immediately dropped a laptop he was carrying to the ground, and their accomplice quickly fled from the area. See State v. McDowell, 266 S.C. 508, 515, 224 S.E.2d 889, 892 (1976) (“As a general rule, any guilty act, conduct, or statements on the part of the accused are admissible as some evidence of consciousness of guilt.”); State v. Al-Amin, 353 S.C. 405, 413, 578 S.E.2d 32, 36 (Ct. App. 2003) (“Flight from prosecution is admissible as evidence of guilt.”); see also Illinois v. Wardlow, 528 U.S. 119, 124 (2000) (“Headlong flight—wherever it occurs—is the consummate act of evasion: It is not necessarily indicative of wrongdoing but it is certainly suggestive of such.”). Significantly, the laptop Petitioner dropped to the ground was the laptop stolen from the victims' apartment only minutes earlier.⁵ See State v. Lyles, 211 S.C. 334, 339, 45 S.E.2d 181, 183 (1947) (instructing proof of a defendant's possession of recently-stolen property supports an inference the defendant was the person who stole the property); see also State v. Cooper, 279 S.C. 301, 302, 306 S.E.2d 598, 599 (1983) (instructing the inference to be drawn from recent

⁵ Petitioner's assertions that the victims never identified the laptop Petitioner dropped is a misrepresentation of the record. (App. p. 294-95; pp. 298-300).

possession of stolen property is an evidentiary fact as opposed to a rebuttable presumption and constitutes circumstantial evidence of guilt). Thereafter, law enforcement officers discovered Fishburne had two of Olivera's cellphones in his pockets and Petitioner was carrying a large quantity of cash in his pocket, and the victims located Fishburne's cellphone in their apartment shortly after the robbery. See McNamara v. Henkel, 226 U.S. 520, 525 (1913) ("Possession of [recently stolen property] in these circumstances tended to show guilty participation in the burglary. This is but to accord the evidence, if unexplained, its natural probative force."); see also Barnes v. United States, 412 U.S. 837, 845-846 (1973) (approving of a jury instruction allowing for the jury to infer the defendant's guilt from his unexplained possession of recently stolen property and recognizing common sense and experience support such an inference).

The post-conviction relief properly denied this allegation, finding trial counsel had a strategic reason for not introducing the bank records and the value of the records was minimal. The post-conviction relief court's findings do not constitute an error of law and are supported by probative evidence in the record. This Court should deny certiorari.

II. The post-conviction relief court properly determined Petitioner failed to establish trial counsel was constitutionally ineffective for failing to move for a severance because there was no reasonable likelihood a severance would have been granted and Petitioner cannot establish any resulting prejudice.

Petitioner asserts trial counsel was ineffective for failing to move to sever his trial from Fishburne and the post-conviction relief court erred in finding counsel ineffective because the lower court "did not properly consider the prejudicial effect of allowing a joint trial when Petitioner's co-defendant was so much older, and had a more significant criminal history than Petitioner." However, the post-conviction relief court properly denied relief as to this meritless

issue, as none of the complained “prejudicial effect” was presented to the jury, and therefore, could not have possibly had any impact on Petitioner’s trial. This Court should deny certiorari.

In South Carolina, criminal defendants indicted for connected crimes are not entitled to separate trials as a matter of right and ordinarily may be jointly tried together. Hughes v. State, 346 S.C. 554, 558, 552 S.E.2d 315, 317 (2001); see also United States v. Chorman, 910 F.2d 102, 114 (4th Cir. 1990) (“Barring ‘special circumstances,’ the general rule is that defendants indicted together should be tried together.” (citation omitted)). In fact, joint trials are preferred due to the vital role they play in the criminal justice system. Zafiro v. United States, 506 U.S. 534, 537 (1993); see also State v. Dennis, 337 S.C. 275, 282, 523 S.E.2d 173, 176 (1999) (recognizing the principles espoused by the United States Supreme Court in regard to joint trials are fully consistent with South Carolina law); see generally Kansas v. Carr, 577 U.S. ___, 136 S. Ct. 633, 645 (2016) (“Joint proceedings are not only permissible but are often preferable when the joined defendants’ criminal conduct arises out of a single chain of events.”). Specifically, joint trials are vital because they promote efficiency in the administration of justice. Zafiro, 506 U.S. at 537. Likewise, joint trials serve the interests of justice by avoiding inconsistent verdicts, preventing inequity, and enabling more accurate assessments of relative culpability in cases involving multiple defendants, which may operate to the advantage of some defendants. Richardson v. Marsh, 481 U.S. 200, 210 (1987).

However, even though joint trials are generally preferred, severance is warranted when there is a serious risk a joint trial would compromise a specific trial right of one of the defendants or prevent the jury from making a reliable judgment about guilt or innocence. Zafiro, 506 U.S. at 539; see United States v. Smith, 44 F.3d 1259, 1266 (4th Cir. 1995) (“[P]rejudice [warranting

severance] may be shown only where there is a ‘serious risk that a joint trial would compromise a specific trial right of one of the defendants, or prevent the jury from making a reliable judgment about guilt or innocence.’ ” (citation omitted)). Situations in which a joint trial might potentially be improper include: (1) when prejudicial evidence that would not be admissible against one defendant is admitted against a co-defendant; (2) when there is a marked difference in the degrees of culpability between different defendants; and (3) when essential exculpatory evidence would be available to a defendant only if he or she was tried alone. Zafiro, 506 U.S. at 539. Importantly though, “less drastic measures, such as limiting instructions, often will suffice to cure any risk of prejudice” that might result from a joint trial. Id.; see Hughes, 346 S.C. at 559, 552 S.E.2d at 317 (“A proper cautionary instruction may help protect the individual rights of each defendant and ensure that no prejudice results from a joint trial.”). Moreover, “defendants are not entitled to severance merely because they may have a better chance of acquittal in separate trials.” Zafiro, 506 U.S. at 539; see State v. Walker, 366 S.C. 643, 657, 623 S.E.2d 122, 129 (Ct. App. 2005) (“The rule allowing joint trials is not impugned simply because the codefendants may present evidence accusing each other of the crime.”).

In the present case, there is no reasonable likelihood that Petitioner’s case would have been severed from Fishburne has counsel so moved. As the lower court correctly noted, neither Petitioner nor Fishburne testified and Petitioner was unable to name a specific right that was infringed by a joint trial with Fishburne. Petitioner’s assertions he was prejudiced because Fishburne was older and had a criminal record are patently meritless as Fishburne’s prior record was not presented to the jury and only was mentioned during sentencing after Petitioner was

convicted. Petitioner acknowledged this during the evidentiary hearing. (App. p. 887). The post-conviction relief court properly denied relief as to this ground. This Court should deny certiorari.

III. The post-conviction relief court properly determined Petitioner failed to establish appellate counsel was constitutionally ineffective for failing to challenge the sufficiency of the evidence on appeal because appellate counsel properly briefed a meritorious issue on Petitioner's behalf.

Petitioner asserts appellate counsel was ineffective for failing to raise the denial of Petitioner's motion for a directed verdict on appeal. In support of this argument, Petitioner asserts "the evidence adduced at trial was not compelling" and cites to several somewhat recent cases addressing directed verdict motions in circumstantial evidence cases. However, the post-conviction relief court properly denied relief as to this allegation as appellate counsel had no duty to raise every preserved issue on appeal and there is no reasonable likelihood this issue would have prevailed on appeal in light of the direct and overwhelming circumstantial evidence establishing Petitioner's guilt. This Court should deny certiorari.

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